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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

_______________________________________________________________ X
TYLER SMITH, Individually and on :
Behalf of All Other Persons Similarly Situated, : Case No.:
Plaintiff,
COLLECTIVE AND
CLASS ACTION
COMPLAINT
-against-
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
CRAFTWORKS RESTAURANTS
& BREWERIES GROUP, INC. d/b/a
OLD CHICAGO P1ZZA & TAPROOM :
Defendant. :
_______________________________________________________________ X

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Tyler Smith, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, through
counsel, upon personal knowledge, and upon information and belief as to other matters, alleges
as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This action seeks to recover unpaid overtime compensation and applicable
damages, interest, attorney’s fees and costs under the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) for
Plaintiff and other current and former salary-paid Assistant Managers, and similarly situated
current and former salary-paid employees holding comparable positions but different titles
(collectively “AMs”), employed by Defendant Craftworks Restaurants and Breweries Group,
Inc. d/b/a Old Chicago Pizza & Taproom (“Defendant”) in the United States, who worked more
than 40 hours in any given workweek at an Old Chicago Pizza & Taproom branded restaurant,

from three years before the date this Complaint was filed until entry of judgment in this matter
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(the “Relevant Time Period”), and who elect to opt into this action pursuant to the Fair Labor
Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) (the “Collective” or “Collective Action
Members”).

2. This action also seeks to recover unpaid overtime compensation, and applicable
damages, penalties, interest, attorney’s fees and costs under the Colorado Wage Claim Act,
C.R.S.A. § 8-4-101 et seq. (the “CWA”), including but not limited to claims arising under § 8-
4-103 and under 8 8-4-109, as interpreted by all applicable Colorado Minimum Wage Orders, 7
CCR 1103-1 (“Wage Orders™), the Colorado Minimum Wages of Workers Act, C.R.S. § 8-6-
101 et. seq. (the “CMWWA”), as interpreted by all applicable Wage Orders, and pursuant to all
other statutory wage claims and breach of contract claims for payment of overtime wages
allowed under Colorado law (collectively “Colorado Wage and Hour Law”), for Plaintiff and
other current and former AMs who worked more than 40 hours in any workweek at any Old
Chicago restaurant owned and operated by Defendant in the state of Colorado (the “Class” or
“Class Action Members”), and were paid by salary for the period from three years before the
date this Complaint was filed until the entry of judgment in this matter (the “Relevant Time
Period™).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s FLSA claims pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §
216(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and over Plaintiff’s Colorado Wage and Hour Law claims pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

4. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a substantial part of the

events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this District.
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5. Defendant maintains its principal corporate office and regularly conducts business
in this District.

6. This Court is empowered to issue a declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§§ 2201 and 2202.

THE PARTIES

7. Plaintiff is an individual residing in Thornton, Colorado.

8. Plaintiff was employed by Defendant from approximately January 2016 to July
2016 an AM at Defendant’s Old Chicago restaurant located at 1102 Pearl Street, Boulder, CO.

9. While employed as an AM, Plaintiff regularly worked in excess of 40 hours per
workweek, without receiving overtime compensation as required by federal and Colorado law.
An example of a workweek in which Plaintiff worked more than 40 hours is March 13-20, 2016.

10. Defendant Craftworks is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Broomfield,
Colorado with additional support offices in Chattanooga, Tennessee. Defendant operates over
200 restaurants, brewery restaurants and entertainment across the United States, including over
100 Old Chicago restaurants of which approximately 25 are located within Colorado.t

11.  Atall times relevant herein, Defendant has employed Plaintiff and has been an
employer within the meaning of Section 3(d) of the FLSA (29 U.S.C. § 203(d)).

12.  Atall times relevant herein, Defendant has been an enterprise within the meaning
of Section 3(r) of the FLSA (29 U.S.C. § 203(r)).

13.  Atall times relevant herein, Defendant has been an enterprise engaged in
commerce or the production of goods for commerce within the meaning of Section 3(s)(1) of the

FLSA because it has had employees engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for

! See CraftWorks Home Page, available at http://www.craftworksrestaurants.com/ (last visited August 6, 2018); and
list of Old Chicago locations, available at https://oldchicago.com/our-locations (last visited August 6, 2018)
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commerce, or employees handling, selling, or otherwise working on goods or materials that
have moved in or were produced for commerce by any person. Further, Defendant has had (and
has) a gross volume of sales, made or done business in an amount of at least $500,000.

14.  Atall times relevant herein, Plaintiff and all similarly situated employees were
engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce as required by 29 U.S.C. 88
206-207.

15. Defendant was, at all times during the applicable Relevant Time Period, a
business or enterprise that sells or offers for sale, any service, commodity, article, good, real
estate, wares, or merchandise to the consuming public, and that generates 50% or more of its
annual dollar volume of business from such sales; and that offered goods or services that will
not be made available for resale.

16. Defendant was, at all times during the applicable Relevant Time Period, covered
by each Colorado Minimum Wage Order applicable to the respective years within the Relevant
Time Period as a business or enterprise within the “Retail and Service” industry as that term is
defined therein.

17. Defendant was, at all times during the Relevant Time Period, a business or
enterprise that prepares and offers for sale, food or beverages for consumption either on or off
the premises.

18. Defendant was, at all times during the Relevant Time Period, covered by each
Wage Order applicable to the respective years within the Relevant Time Period as a business or

enterprise within the “Food and Beverage” industry as that term is defined therein.
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19. Plaintiff and the AMs were Defendant’s “employees” as that term is defined by
all applicable Wage Orders because they performed labor for the benefit of Defendant in which
Defendant commanded when, where, and how much labor or services would be performed.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

20. Defendant employed Plaintiff, the Collective and the Class as AMs.

21. Defendant maintains control, oversight, and discretion over the operation of its
restaurants, including its employment practices with respect to Plaintiff, members of the

Collective, and members of the Class.

22, Defendant suffered, permitted or directed the work of Plaintiff and similarly
situated employees, and Defendant benefited from work performed by Plaintiff and similarly
situated employees.

23. Plaintiff, members of the Collective, and members of the Class performed

work as AMs that was integrated into the normal course of Defendant’s business.

24.  Consistent with Defendant’s policy, pattern and/or practice, Plaintiff, members of
the Collective, and members of the Class regularly worked in excess of 40 hours per workweek
without being paid overtime wages, in violation of the FLSA and Colorado law.

25. Plaintiff regularly worked 60-65 hours per week as an AM, but was never paid
overtime for hours worked over 40 per week, or over twelve (12) in any workday or twelve (12)
consecutive hours without regard to the starting and ending time of the workday.

26. Defendant assigned and is aware of all of the work that the Plaintiff, members of

the Collective, and members of the Class have performed.

27.  The work performed for Defendant by Plaintiff, members of the Collective, and

members of the Class required no capital investment, nor did said work include managerial
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responsibilities or the exercise of meaningful independent judgment and discretion as the
primary duties of the position.

28. During the Relevant Time Period, the primary job duties of the Plaintiff, members
of the Collective, and members of the Class did not include hiring, firing, or disciplining other
employees.

29. During the Relevant Time Period, Plaintiff, members of the Collective and
members of the Class all performed the same primary job duties, including customer service,
food and drink preparation, and cleaning. The primary job duties of AMs were the same
regardless of the restaurant in which they worked.

30.  The primary job duties of Plaintiff, members of the Collective, and members of
the Class did not materially differ from the duties of Defendant’s non-exempt hourly paid
employees, which included many duties that were manual and non-exempt in nature. The
performance of manual labor and non-exempt duties occupied the majority of Plaintiff’s, the
Collective’s members’ and the Class’ members’ working hours.

31. Pursuant to a centralized, company-wide policy, pattern and/or practice,
Defendant classified Plaintiff, members of the Collective, and members of the Class as exempt
from coverage of the overtime provisions of the FLSA and Colorado Wage and Hour Law.

32. Upon information and belief, Defendant did not perform a person-by-person
analysis of the job duties of Plaintiff, members of the Collective, or members of the Class when
making the decision to classify all of them uniformly as exempt from the overtime protections of
the FLSA and Colorado Wage and Hour Law.

33. Defendant established labor budgets to cover labor costs for the restaurants where

Plaintiff and similarly situated employees worked. Defendant did not provide sufficient resources
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in the labor budgets for non-exempt employees to complete all of their non-exempt tasks in each
restaurant. Defendant knew or recklessly disregarded the fact that failing to provide sufficient
resources in restaurant labor budgets resulted in Plaintiff, members of the Collective, and
members of the Class (who were not paid overtime) working more than 40 hours in a workweek
and primarily performing manual and non-exempt duties during their workweeks, without
receiving overtime compensation. This allowed Defendant to avoid paying additional wages
(including overtime) to the restaurant-level employees it classified as non-exempt.

34, Defendant acted willfully by virtue of the fact that their General Managers (as
their authorized agents) actually saw Plaintiff and other similarly situated AMs perform
primarily manual labor and non-exempt duties. Defendant also acted willfully and in reckless
disregard of its obligations under the FLSA and Colorado Wage and Hour Law that a result of
the underfunded labor budgets was to limit the amount of money available to pay non-exempt
employees to perform such work. Defendant knew, by virtue of the fact that their General
Managers (as their authorized agents) actually saw Plaintiff and other similarly situated AMs
perform primarily manual labor and non-exempt duties, that Plaintiff and similarly situated
employees did not fall under any exemptions under the FLSA and Colorado Wage and Hour
Law.

35.  Asan experienced business operating hundreds of restaurants throughout the
country, Defendant knew or recklessly disregarded the fact that by underfunding the labor
budgets for store locations, Plaintiff and other similarly situated employees were primarily
performing non-exempt duties and not performing activities that would suffice to make their
actual job duties comply with any overtime exemption under the FLSA and Colorado Wage and

Hour Law.
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36.  Defendant’s unlawful conduct, as described above, was willful or in reckless
disregard of the applicable wage and hour laws pursuant to Defendant’s centralized, company-
wide policy, pattern, and practice of attempting to minimize labor costs by violating the FLSA
and Colorado Wage and Hour Law.

37.  As part of its regular business practice, Defendant has intentionally, willfully and
repeatedly engaged in a policy, pattern and practice of violating the FLSA and Colorado Wage
and Hour Law with respect to Plaintiff, members of the Collective, and members of the Class.
This policy, pattern and practice includes, but it is not limited to, Defendant’s knowledge of its
obligations under the FLSA and Colorado Wage and Hour Law, and the kind of work that
Plaintiff, members of the Collective, and members of the Class were and have been actually
performing. As a result, Defendant has:

a. willfully misclassified Plaintiff, members of the Collective, and members of the
Class as exempt from the overtime requirements of the FLSA and Colorado Wage
and Hour Law;

b. willfully failed to pay Plaintiff, members of the Collective, and members of the
Class overtime wages for hours they worked in excess of 40 hours per week, and
as to members of the Class overtime wages for hours they worked in excess of
twelve (12) in a workday or twelve (12) consecutive hours without regard to the
starting and ending time of the workday; and

c. willfully failed to provide enough money in its restaurant-level labor budgets for
Defendant’s non-exempt employees to perform their duties and responsibilities,
thereby forcing Defendant’s AMs that it classified as exempt to perform

additional non-exempt tasks.
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38. Defendant’s willful violations of the FLSA and Colorado Wage and Hour Law are
further demonstrated by the fact that throughout the Relevant Time Period, and continuing to the
present, Defendant failed to maintain accurate and sufficient time records for Plaintiff, members
of the Collective, and members of the Class. Defendant acted recklessly or in willful disregard
of the FLSA and Colorado Wage and Hour Law by instituting a policy and/or practice that did
not allow Plaintiff, members of the Collective, or members of the Class to record all hours
worked.

39. Due to the foregoing, Defendant’s failure to pay overtime wages for work
performed by Plaintiff, members of the Collective, and members of the Class in excess of 40
hours per workweek, and as to members of the Class overtime wages for hours they worked in
excess of twelve (12) in a workday or twelve (12) consecutive hours without regard to the
starting and ending time of the workday, was willful and has been widespread, repeated and
consistent.

FLSA COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

40. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 8216(b), Plaintiff seeks to prosecute his FLSA claims as a
Collective Action on behalf of all persons who are or were formerly employed by Defendant as
AMs during the Relevant Time Period.

41. Defendant is liable under the FLSA for, inter alia, failing to pay premium
overtime wages to Plaintiff and other similarly situated employees.

42. Upon information and belief, there are hundreds of similarly situated current and
former AMs who have not been paid premium overtime wages in violation of the FLSA and

who would benefit from the issuance of a court-supervised notice of this lawsuit and the
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opportunity to join. Thus, notice should be sent to the Collective Action Members pursuant to
29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

43.  The similarly situated employees are known to Defendant, are readily identifiable,
and can be located through Defendant’s records.

COLORADO WAGE AND HOUR LAW CLASS ALLEGATIONS

44, Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23, Plaintiff seeks to prosecute his Colorado Wage and
Hour Law claims as a class action on behalf of all persons who are, or were, formerly employed
by Defendant in Colorado as AMs (collectively, the “Class”) at any time during the Relevant
Time Period.

45.  The persons in the Class are so numerous and geographically dispersed that their
joinder is impracticable.

46. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class. He is an adequate
representative to fairly prosecute the interests of the Class, and has retained competent counsel
to advance the interests of the Class. And, there are questions of law and fact common to the
Class which predominate over any questions solely affecting the individual members of the
Class, including but not limited to:

a. whether Defendant has a policy of misclassifying AMs as “exempt”
employees and denying them overtime compensation;

b. whether Defendant failed to keep true and accurate time records for all
hours worked by the Class;

C. what proof of hours worked is sufficient when employers fail in their duty
to maintain true and accurate time records;

d. whether Defendant have failed and refused to pay the Class overtime

10
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wages for hours worked more than forty (40) hours per work week within the meaning of the
Colorado Wage and Hour Laws;

e. the nature and extent of the class-wide injury and the appropriate measure
of damages for the Class;

f. whether Defendant is liable for damages claimed in this matter, including
but not limited to compensatory, punitive and statutory damages, interest, costs, disbursements,
and attorneys’ fees; and,

g. whether Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds generally
applicable to the Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding
declaratory relief with respect to the Class as a whole.

47.  Aclass action in superior to other methods of adjudicating the Colorado Wage
and Hour Law misclassification claims set forth in this case.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of Fair Labor Standards Act
(Brought on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Collective)

48. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Collective, re-allege and incorporate by
reference the previous paragraphs as if they were set forth again herein.

49.  Atall relevant times, Defendant has been, and continues to be, an employer
engaged in interstate commerce or the production of goods for commerce, within the meaning of
the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 206(a) and 207(a).

50.  Atall relevant times, Defendant employed Plaintiff, and employed or continue to
employ, each member of the Collective within the meaning of the FLSA.

51. Defendant has engaged in a widespread pattern and practice of violating the

FLSA, as described in this Complaint.

11
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52. Plaintiff has consented in writing to be a party to this action, pursuant to 29
U.S.C. § 216(b), by the attached Consent filed with this pleading.

53.  The overtime wage provisions set forth in 29 U.S.C. 88 201, et seq., apply to
Defendant.

54.  Asaresult of Defendant’s willful failure to compensate its employees, including
Plaintiff and members of the Collective, at a rate not less than one and one-half times the regular
rate of pay for work performed in excess of 40 hours in a workweek, Defendant has violated
and, continues to violate, the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. 8§ 201, et seq., including 29 U.S.C. 88 207(a)(1)
and 215(a).

55.  Asaresult of Defendant’s willful failure to record, report, credit, and compensate
its employees, including Plaintiff and members of the Collective, Defendant failed to make,
keep, and preserve records with respect to each of its employees sufficient to determine the
wages, hours and other conditions and practices of employment in violation of the FLSA, 29
U.S.C. 88 201, et seq., including 29 U.S.C. §8§ 211(c) and 215(a).

56.  Asaresult of Defendant’s policy and practice of minimizing labor costs by
underfunding labor budgets for their restaurants, Defendant knew or recklessly disregarded the
fact that Plaintiff and member of the Collective were primarily performing manual labor and
non-exempt tasks.

57. Due to Defendant’s (a) failure to provide enough labor budget funds, (b) failure to
take into account the impact of the underfunded labor budgets on the job duties of Plaintiff and
members of the Collective, (c) actual knowledge that the primary duties of Plaintiff and
members of the Collective were manual labor and other non-exempt tasks, (d) failure to perform

a person-by-person analysis of Plaintiff’s and the Collective members’ job duties to ensure that

12
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they were performing primarily exempt job duties, and (e) policy and practice that did not allow
Plaintiffs and member of the Collective to record all hours worked, Defendant knew and/or
showed reckless disregard that its conduct was prohibited by the FLSA. 29 U.S.C. 8§ 255(a).

58.  Asaresult of Defendant’s FLSA violations, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the
Collective Action Members, is entitled to (a) recover from Defendant unpaid wages for all of
the hours worked, as premium overtime compensation; (b) recover an additional, equal amount
as liquidated damages for Defendant’s willful violations of the FLSA; and, (c) recover any
available interest for unreasonably delayed payment of wages, and reasonable attorneys’ fees,
and costs and disbursements of this action, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

59. Defendant’s violations of the FLSA have been willful, thus a three-year statute of
limitations applies, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 255.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of the Colorado Wage Claim Act, 8 8-4-101, et seq. — Section 103 Claims
(Brought on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Colorado Class)

60. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the above paragraphs preceding the First
Cause of Action.

61.  Atall relevant times, Defendant has been, and continues to be, an “employer”
within the meaning of the Colorado Wage Claim Act.

62.  Atall relevant times, Defendant has employed, and continues to employ,
“employees,” including Plaintiff and the Class, within the meaning of the Colorado Wage Claim
Act.

63.  Asaresult of the foregoing conduct, as alleged, Defendant has failed to pay
wages due under the FLSA and the Colorado Wage and Hour Law for hours worked over forty

in a workweek or over twelve in a workday or continuous work period, thereby violating, and
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continuing to violate, the Colorado Wage Claim Act. These violations were committed
knowingly, willfully, and with reckless disregard of applicable law.

64.  Asaresult, Plaintiff has been damaged in an amount to be determined at trial.
Plaintiff hereby demands payment on his behalf and on behalf of all Class members in an
amount sufficient to provide compensation for all overtime hours worked. This demand for
payment is continuing and is made on behalf of any current employees of Defendant whose
employment terminates at any time in the future. Such payment can be made by delivery to
Plaintiff at the address listed at the end of this pleading.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of the Colorado Minimum Wage Act, §88-6-101, et seq., - Wage Order Claims
(Brought on Behalf of Plaintiff and all the Colorado Class)

65. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the above paragraphs.

66.  Atall relevant times, Defendant has been, and continues to be, an “employer”
within the meaning of the Colorado Minimum Wage Act.

67.  Atall relevant times, Defendant has employed, and continues to employ,
“employees”, including plaintiff, within the meaning of the Minimum Wage Act.

68. Plaintiff was an employee of Defendant within the meaning of the Minimum
Wage Act.

69.  Asaresult of the foregoing conduct, as alleged, Defendant has violated, and
continues to violate, the Minimum Wage Act. These violations were committed knowingly,
willfully, and with reckless disregard of applicable law.

70.  Asaresult, Plaintiff and members of the Class have been damaged in an amount
to be determined at trial.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Colorado Wage Claim Act 8§ 8-4-101, et seq. —Section 109 Claims

14
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71. Plaintiff incorporates herein the allegations contained in the paragraphs preceding
and following the First Cause of Action.

72.  Asalleged above, at all relevant times Defendant has been, and continues to be,
an “employer” within the meaning of the FLSA and the Colorado Wage Act, as implemented by
the Wage Orders.

73.  Asalleged above, at all relevant times Defendant has employed, and/or continues
to employ, “employees,” including Plaintiff, within the meaning of the FLSA and the Colorado
Wage Act, as implemented by the Wage Orders.

74. Plaintiff was an employee of Defendant within the meaning of the FLSA and the
Colorado Wage Act, as implemented by the Wage Orders, during his period of employment as
an AM within the dates stated above.

75.  As alleged above, Defendant is and was at all relevant times covered by all
applicable Wage Orders by operating within the Retail and Service, and Food and Beverage,
industries as therein defined.

76. Defendant violated the Colorado Wage Act as implemented by all applicable
Wage Orders when it failed to pay Plaintiff upon his separation from employment, and all other
separated AMs whose employment with Defendant terminated within the period beginning three
years preceding the filing date of this Complaint upon their separation from employment with
Defendant (collectively the “Separated AMs”), within the time required by statute, their gross
wages inclusive of overtime premiums for hours worked over forty in each given workweek (as
required by the FLSA and Colorado Wage and Hour Law) or over twelve in a workday or
continuous work period (as required by Colorado Wage and Hour Law) for the applicable

period of their employment with Defendant under C.R.S. § 8-4-1009.
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77, Plaintiff’s and the Separated AMs’ gross wages, inclusive of the unpaid overtime
premiums owed under the FLSA, CWA and all applicable Wage Orders, are and were earned,
vested and determinable wages or compensation at the time of their separation from
employment for the purposes of C.R.S. § 8-4-109(3)(b). C.R.S. 8§ 8-4-101(8)(a)(1).

78. Defendant did not make Plaintiff’s and the Separated AMs’ gross wages,
inclusive of the unpaid overtime premiums owed under applicable federal and state law,
available following separation from employment at the applicable time and location required by
C.R.S. 88 8-4-109(1)(a)(i)-(iii) or (1)(b)(i)-(iii).

79. Defendant did not mail Plaintiff’s and the Separated AMs’ gross wages, inclusive
of the unpaid overtime premiums owed under applicable federal and state law, to their last
known mailing address as required by C.R.S. § 8-4-109(1)(c).

80.  Asaresult, Plaintiff and the Separated AMs have suffered lost wages and lost use
of those wages in an amount to be determined at trial.

81. Plaintiff and the Separated AMs are therefore entitled to recover in this civil
action the unpaid balance of the full amount of overtime wages they are owed, together with
attorney’s fees and court costs. C.R.S. 8 8-4-110(1).

82. Plaintiff and/or any Separated AMs to whom Defendant failed to make payment
in full of the required wages within fourteen days of receipt of written demand (the “Demand
Subclass™) are further entitled to recovery of additional penalties pursuant to C.R.S. § 8-4-
109(3)(b).

83.  The Separated AMs within the Demand Subclass are further entitled to recovery

of additional penalties pursuant to C.R.S. § 8-4-109(3)(c) for willful violations.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Court enter a judgment against Defendant in
favor of Plaintiff and the class and collective members finding a violation of the FLSA and

applicable Colorado Wage and Hour Laws, and awarding the following relief:

a. Designation of this action as an FLSA collective action on behalf of
Plaintiff and members of the Collective and prompt issuance of notice
pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) to all similarly situated members of the
Collective, apprising them of the pendency of this action, permitting them
to assert timely FLSA claims in this action by filing individual Consents
pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), and tolling of the statute of limitations;

b. A declaratory judgment that the practices complained of herein are
unlawful under the FLSA;

C. An award of unpaid wages for all hours worked in excess of 40 in a
workweek at a rate of time and one-half of the regular rate of pay due
under the FLSA, using the following common methodology for
calculating damages: ((Annual Salary + 52) + 40) x Total Number of
Overtime Hours Worked x 1.5;

d. An award of liquidated damages as a result of Defendant’s willful failure
to pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in a workweek, at a rate
of one and one-half times the regular rate of pay pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §

216;
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e. Certification of this action as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 on
behalf of the above-referenced Class and subclass(es), certifying Plaintiff
as the class representative, and appointing Plaintiff’s counsel as counsel
for Class Members;

f. Ordering prompt notice of this litigation to all potential Class Members;

g. An award to the Class members of all compensatory damages, penalties,
interest, attorneys’ fees, and litigation expenses as provided by Colorado
Wage and Hour Law, including additional amounts owed beyond the
damages provisions of the FLSA;

h. An award of damages representing the employer’s share of FICA, FUTA,
state unemployment insurance, and any other required employment taxes;

I. An award of any allowed prejudgment and post-judgment interest;

J. An award of costs and expenses of this action together with reasonable
attorneys’ and expert fees and an award of a service payment to the
Plaintiff; and

k. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY

Pursuant to FeD. R. Civ. P. 38(b), Plaintiff demands a trial by a jury of twelve persons on

all questions of fact raised by the Complaint.

Dated: August 6, 2018 By: 3" Lethery A Hitbers
C. Andrew Head
Bethany Hilbert
Head Law Firm, LLC
4422 N. Ravenswood Ave.
Chicago, IL 60640
Tel: (404) 924-4151
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Fax: (404) 796-7338
ahead@headlawfirm.com
bhilbert@headlawfirm.com

Fran L. Rudich

Seth R. Lesser

Christopher M. Timmel

KLAFTER OLSEN & LESSER LLP
Two International Drive, Suite 350
Rye Brook, NY 10573

Telephone: (914) 934-9200
Facsimile: (914) 934-9220
fran@Kklafterolsen.com
seth@klafterolsen.com
christopher.timmel@Kklafterolsen.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Collective

Plaintiff’s address:
12755 Jasmine Court
Thornton, CO 80602
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CONSENT TO JOIN LAWSUIT

By my signature below, I hereby authorize the filing and prosecution of
claims in my name and on my behalf, to contest the alleged failure of CraftWorks
Restaurants and Breweries, Inc. d/b/a Old Chicago Pizza and Taproom, and/or
their parent, subsidiary, predecessor, successor, affiliated, and related companies
(*“Old Chicago™) to pay me proper wages, including overtime wages, under federal
law. I named Klafter Olsen & Lesser LLP to make decisions on my behalf
concerning the litigation, the method and manner of conducting this litigation, and
all other matters pertaining to this lawsuit, including any settlement of any and all

compensation claims(s) I have against Old Chicago.

Slgnature yler Sn¥th (Jul 6, 2018) Date Jul 6,2018

Tvler Smith
Printed Name
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
District of Colorado

TYLER SMITH, Individually and on Behalf of All
Other Persons Similarly Situated,

)
)
)
)
Plaintiff(s) )
V. g Civil Action No. 1:18-cv-1986

CRAFTWORKS RESTAURANTS & BREWERIES )

)

)

)

)

GROUP, INC. d/b/a OLD CHICAGO PIZZA &
TAPROOM

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Craftworks Restaurants & Breweries Group, Inc. d/b/a Old Chicago Pizza & Taproom
c/o Corporation Service Company
1900 W. Littleton Blvd., Littleton, CO 80120

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,

whose name and address are:  C- Andrew Head
Bethany A. Hilbert

Head Law Firm, LLC
4422 N. Ravenswood Ave.
Chicago, IL 60604

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No. 1:18-cv-1986

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

i Seers |
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JS 44 (Rev. 06/17)

District of Colorado Form

CIVIL COVER SHEET

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other IEapers as required by law, except as
provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for tl
purpose of Initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

e use of the Clerk of Court for the

1@ pLAINTIFES

DEFENDANTS

situated,

TYLER SMITH, Individually and on behalf of all other persons similarly

CRAFTWORKS RESTAURANTS & BREWERIES GROUP,
INC. d/b/a OLD CHICAGO PIZZA & TAPROOM

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff Adams

(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

(C) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number)

NOTE:

Attorneys (If Known)

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant

IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

Head Law Firm, LLC

4422 N. Ravenswood Ave., Chicago, IL 60640 (404) 924-4151

[ t us. Government
Plaintiff

2 U.S. Government
Defendant

I1. BASIS OF JURISDICTION

3 Federal Question

[] 4 piversity

(Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item 1)

(Place an “X”” in One Box Only)

(U.S. Government Not a Party)

1. C

Citizen of This State
Citizen of Another State

Citizen or Subject of a

(For Diversity Cases Only)
PTF

I:ll
|:|2
R

Foreign Country

['TZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X* in One Box for

Plaintiff) and One Box for Defendant)
PTF DEF
o0
Os0Os
gege

DEF
Dl
|:|2
R

Incorporated or Principal Place
of Business In This State

Incorporated and Principal Place
of Business In Another State

Foreign Nation

IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X” in One Box Only)

Click here for Nature of Suite Code Descriptions

of Veteran’s Benefits
160 Stockholders” Suits
190 Other Contract

| 1196 Franchise

195 Contract Product Liability

350 Motor Vehicle

355 Motor Vehicle
Product Liability

360 Other Personal
Injury

:|362 Personal Injury -

Med. Malpractice

| 370 Other Fraud
3 371 Truth in Lending
380 Other Personal
Property Damage
D 385 Property Damage
Product Liability

3790 Other Labor Litigation

240 Torts to Land
245 Tort Product Liability
290 All Other Real Property

230 Rent Lease & Ejectment

442 Employment
443 Housing/
Accommodations

Employment

Other
448 Education

445 Amer. w/Disabilities -

446 Amer. w/Disabilities -

REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS
210 Land Condemnation 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus:
220 Foreclosure 441 Voting 463 Alien Detainee

[] 520 Motions to Vacate

Sentence

H 530 General
535 Death Penalty
Other:

:| 540 Mandamus & Other
550 Civil Rights
555 Prison Condition
560 Civil Detainee -

Conditions of

Confinement

Act
720 Labor/Mgmt. Relations
740 Railway Labor Act
751 Family and Medical
Leave Act

CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES
—|110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY 625 Drug Related Seizure :|422 Appeal 28 USC 158 375 False Claims Act
120 Marine | 1310 Airplane | 365 Personal Injury - of Property 21 USC 881 [_]423 Withdrawal 376 Qui Tam (31 USC 3729(a))
130 Miller Act :|315 Airplane Product Product Liability DGQO Other 28 USC 157 400 State Reapportionment
140 Negotiable Instrument Liability D 367 Health Care/ 410 Antitrust
150 Recovery of Overpayment :|320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS 430 Banks and Banking
& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury 820 Copyrights 450 Commerce
151 Medicare Act :|330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 830 Patent 460 Deportation
152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability D 368 Asbestos Personal 835 Patent — Abbreviated 470 Racketeer Influenced &
Student Loans 340 Marine Injury Product New Drug Application Corrupt Organizations
(Excl. Veterans) 345 Marine Product Liability LABOR 840 Trademark 480 Consumer Credit
[1s3 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY [X]710 Fair Labor Standards SOCIAL SECURITY 490 Cable/Sat TV

791 Employee Retirement

865 RS (205(g))

861 HIA (1395ff)

862 Black Lung (923)

863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g))
864 SSID Title XVI

850 Securities/Commodities/
Exchange

890 Other Statutory Actions

891 Agricultural Acts

893 Environmental Matters

895 Freedom of Information

Act

Income Security Act

IMMIGRATION

462 Naturalization
465 Other Immigration
Actions

[]870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff

1871 IRS—Third Party

D 896 Arbitration

I:l 899 Administrative Procedure
Act/Review or Appeal of
Agency Decision

D 950 Constitutionality of
State Statutes

FEDERAL TAX SUITS
or Defendant)

26 USC 7609

V. ORIGIN (Place an "X in One Box Only) 5. Transferred from 8. Multidistrict
X| 1. Original 2. Removed from 3. Remanded from X| 4. Reinstated or ’ istri 6. Multidistrict “itiaation —
Progeeding State Court O Appellate Court Reopened O :E\Sns)et?ﬁ;)dlstrlct O Litigation O E‘};g&t'ﬁi?e

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):
Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (“FLSA"), 29 U.S.C. 88§ 201, et. seq.
V1. CAUSE OF ACTION Brief description of cause: AP Docket  []

Misclassification as exempt and failure to pay overtime pay

VIl. REQUESTED IN

CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION

DEMAND $

CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:

COMPLAINT: UNDER F.R.C.P. 23 JURY DEMAND:  [X]Yes [ No
VIIl. RELATED CASE(S) IF ANY  (see instructions): ~ JUDGE DOCKET NUMBERl
3/6/18 [s/ Bethany A. Hilbert
DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE
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